
         

 

 

COUNTY LINE 
DRAINAGE DISTRICT 

 

LEE COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

APRIL 1, 2025 
10:00 A.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
27499 Riverview Center Boulevard, #253 

Bonita Springs, FL 33134 

www.countylinedd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 
AGENDA 

COUNTY LINE 
DRAINAGE DISTRICT 
23351 North River Road 

Alva, Florida 33920 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

April 1, 2025 
10:00 A.M. 

 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication…………………………………………………………………………........Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Additions or Deletions to Agenda 

E. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

F. Approval of Minutes  

1. January 7, 2025 Regular Board Meeting……………………………………………………..Page 2 

G. Old Business 

H. New Business 

1. Consider Approval of LLW Rate Adjustment………………………………………………..Page 5 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2025-01 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Proposed Budget….Page 7 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2025-02 – Renewal and Assignment of District Engineering 
Contract……………………………………………………………………………………….Page 13 

I. Manager’s Report 

1. Financial Report………………………………………………………………………………Page 15 

J. Field Report…………………………………………………………………………………….....Page 19 

K. Engineer’s Report 

L. Attorney’s Report 

1. Update on Easement Litigation 

M. Administrative Matters 

N. Board Member Comments 

O. Adjourn 



Page 1



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

COUNTY LINE DRAINAGE DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

JANUARY 7, 2025 
 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The January 7, 2025, Regular Board Meeting of the County Line Drainage District (the “District”) was called 
to order at 10:00 a.m. at 23351 North River Road, Alva, Florida 33920. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been published in the Fort 
Myers News-Press on November 1, 2024, as part of the District’s Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Meeting Schedule, 
as legally required.  
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum and it was in order to 
proceed with the meeting: 
 
President Joe Beale Present 
Vice President Paul Fabry Present 
Assistant Secretary Pat McKenna Present 

 
Staff members in attendance were: 
 
District Manager Kathleen Meneely Special District Services, Inc. 
General Counsel Robert Diffenderfer & Seth Behn (via 

phone) 
Lewis, Longman & Walker 

District Engineer Kyle Grandusky GMAwater, LLC 
Field Consultant Brandon Lynn  

 
D. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 
 
There were no additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
E. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
There were no comments from the public for items not on the agenda. 
 
F. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 1.  November 13, 2024, Regular Board Meeting 
 
The November 13, 2024, Regular Board Meeting minutes were presented for consideration. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Fabry, seconded by Mr. McKenna and passed unanimously approving the 
November 13, 2024, Regular Board Meeting minutes, as presented. 

Page 2



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 
G. OLD BUSINESS 
 
There were no Old Business items to come before the Board. 
 
H. NEW BUSINESS 
 1.  Consider Engineer Assignment Request 
 
Mr. Grandusky went over the letter in the agenda stating that he was joining Garcia Environmental Services, 
LLC and ending his employment and ownership interest with GMAwater, LLC.  Mr. Fabry stated that he is 
concerned that Mr. Grandusky would be able to have time for the District as the Garcia Family Farms business, 
of which this is a subsidiary, is a very busy firm.  Mr. Grandusky confirmed that his availability and rates 
would stay the same.  Mr. Behn asked if there were any remaining engineers with GMA and Mr. Grandusky 
indicated that there were no other engineers.  Mr. Behn stated that the District may be required to go through 
the RFQ process and suggested a temporary contract with Mr. Grandusky.  Mr. Beale indicated that he believed 
the engineer’s contract was assignable and noted that Mr. Grandusky had done a very good job for the District.  
Mr. Behn advised that he would need to look at the contract but in the interim suggested preparing an interim 
contract that could be converted to a permanent contract if the RFQ process was not required. 
 
After further discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Fabry, seconded by Mr. Beale and passed unanimously 
approving entering into a temporary contract with Mr. Grandusky’s new firm, under the existing terms, with 
authorization for the Chairman to execute same between meetings. 
 
I. MANAGER’S REPORT  
 1.  Financial Report 
 
Ms. Meneely went over financial report.   
 
Mr. Fabry stated that the expenditures for the culverts should be moved from the Equipment & Parts line item 
to the Control Structures line item.  Ms. Meneely advised that she would take care of the error. 
 
J. FIELD REPORT 
 
Mr. Lynn went over his report provided in the meeting package, including the culvert installation previously 
discussed. 
 
K. ENGINEER’S REPORT 
 
Mr. Grandusky stated that the final recording data had been submitted for BMAP. 
 
L. ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 1.  Update on Easement Litigation 
 
Mr. Diffenderfer reported that the matter was with the appellate court and would be decided based on briefs.  
He further stated that, hopefully, the matter will be disposed of quickly but there is no requirement for timing. 
 
M. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

Page 3



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

Ms. Meneely went over the upcoming schedule of April 1 and August 14.  Mr.  Beale stated that he would not 
be available August 14 and asked to change the meeting date. 
 
After discussion, a motion was made by Mr. Fabry, seconded by Mr. McKenna and passed unanimously 
changing the August meeting from August 14, 2025, to July 1, 2025, at 10:00 a.m. 
 
Ms. Meneely indicated that the Board would need to consider the Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Meeting Schedule at 
the July meeting and requested a confirmation of the dates.  It was the consensus of the Board to propose the 
following fiscal year 2025/2026 meeting dates of October 7, 2025; January 6, 2026; April 7, 2026; and August 
18, 2026. 
  
N. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no further comments from the Board Members. 
 
O. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was made by Mr. Fabry, seconded by Mr. 
McKenna and passed unanimously adjourning the Regular Board Meeting at 10:30 a.m. 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________ __________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   President/Vice President 
 
 

Page 4



Attorneys at Law 
 llw-law.com 

 

01862158-1   
 
JACKSONVILLE 
245 Riverside Ave.  
Suite 510  
Jacksonville, Florida 32202 
T: 904.353.6410 
F: 904.353.7619

ST. PETERSBURG 
100 Second Ave., South  
Suite 501-S 
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 
T: 727.245.0820 
F: 727.290.4057

 
TALLAHASSEE 
106 East College Avenue  
Suite 1500 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
T: 850.222.5702  
F: 850.224.9242

TAMPA 
301 West Platt St. 
Suite A364 
Tampa, Florida 33606 
T: 813.775.2331 

 
WEST PALM BEACH 
360 South Rosemary Ave.  
Suite 1100 
West Palm Beach, FL 33401 
T: 561.640.0820 
F: 561.640.8202

 
 

 
Reply To: rdiffenderfer@llw-law.com   

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  County Line Drainage District 
  Attn:  Kathleen Meneely – Via Email:  kmeneely@sdsinc.org 
 
FROM:  Robert P. Diffenderfer, Esquire 
 
DATE:  February 5, 2025  
 
SUBJECT: 2025 Hourly Billing Rates 
 
 
Happy New Year! In accordance with our Engagement Agreement with you, please find enclosed our 
Firm’s 2025 Hourly Billing Rates.  In adjusting these rates, we considered current market conditions, 
the services we provide and the costs that are included in the rate.  We are confident that our 2025 
rates are fair and highly competitive within our areas of practice and for our range of experience.   
 
We remain committed to providing you with the best possible legal services.  To this end we have 
assembled one of the best legal teams in Florida.  We also continue to make significant investments in 
our technology that are needed to provide the standard of service that you expect.  We value your 
trust, and we are committed to validating that trust. 
 
Next month’s invoice will reflect the 2025 rates.  Please do not hesitate to call me if you have any 
questions, or if you would like to discuss any of these changes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



 
 

01862158-1 

4902-9881-2951, v. 1

 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
2025 Hourly Rates

 Rates 
 

Shareholders, Of Counsel and Senior 
Attorneys 

$325.00 - $395.00 

Attorneys $285.00 - $330.00 

Paralegals $250.00 

 

  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



RESOLUTION NO. 2025-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY 
LINE DRAINAGE DISTRICT APPROVING A PROPOSED BUDGET 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2025/2026; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the County Line Drainage District 
(“District”) is required by Chapter 298, Florida Statutes, to approve a Proposed Budget for each 
fiscal year; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Proposed Budget including the Assessments for Fiscal Year 2025/2026 
has been prepared and considered by the Board. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE COUNTY LINE DRAINAGE DISTRICT THAT: 
 

Section 1. The Proposed Budget including the Assessments for Fiscal Year 
2025/2026 attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is approved and adopted. 
 

Section 2.       A Public Hearing is hereby scheduled for August 7, 2024 at 10:00 a.m. in 
23351 North River Road, Alva, Florida 33920, for the purpose of receiving public comments on 
the Proposed Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Budget. 
 
 

PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 1st day of April, 2025. 
 

 
ATTEST: COUNTY LINE DRAINAGE DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
By:  By:  
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman/Vice Chairman 

Page 7



   County Line
   Drainage District

     Proposed Budget For
     Fiscal Year 2025/2026

    October 1, 2025 - September 30, 2026

Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



 

01541385-1   
4938-0674-0011, v. 1 

RESOLUTION 2025-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
COUNTY LINE DRAINAGE DISTRICT; APPROVING THE 
REQUEST BY GMAWATER, LCC TO ASSIGN THE DISTRICT 
ENGINEERING CONTRACT TO GARCIA PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES, LLC, RETAINING KYLE GRANDUSKY AS 
DISTRICT ENGINEER; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the County Line Drainage District (hereinafter, the “District”), is a political 
subdivision and special purpose local government of the state of Florida, organized under its 
charter and Florida Statutes Chapters 189 and 298; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 298.16, Florida Statutes requires the District appoint a District 
Engineer, who shall be responsible for the control of the engineering work of the District; and 

WHEREAS, The Board of Supervisors entered into an agreement in 2014 with Federico, 
Lamb and Associates, Inc., employing Kyle Grandusky, P.E. to serve as the District Engineer; and 

WHEREAS, the agreement with Federico, Lamb was subsequently assigned to Grandusky, 
Lamb, and Associates, LLC (now doing business as GMAwater, LLC), with Kyle Grandusky, P.E. 
continuing in his role as District Engineer; and 

WHEREAS, Kyle Grandusky, P.E. is now employed by Garcia Professional Services, 
LLC; and 

WHEREAS, GMAwater, LLC, has agreed to assign the contract for District Engineer to 
Garcia Professional Services, LLC, so that Kyle Grandusky, P.E. may continue to serve as District 
Engineer; and 

WHERES, the 2014 agreement requires express written consent for the assignment of the 
engineering contract; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has determined that assigning the contract for 
District Engineer to Garcia Professional Services, LLC, retaining Kyle Grandusky, P.E. as District 
Engineer is in the best interest of the District. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
COUNTY LINE DRAINAGE DISTRICT HEREBY ORDERS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Board grants its consent to GMAwater, LLC to assign the contract for District 
Engineer to Garcia Professional Services, LLC, subject to the original terms and 
conditions of the 2014 contract. 

2. This resolution shall serve as the necessary written consent to GMAwater, LLC, to 
assign its contract for engineering services to Garcia Professional Services, LLC. 

Page 13



 

01541385-1   
4938-0674-0011, v. 1 

3. Kyle Grandusky, P.E. shall continue to serve as District Engineer. 

4. Garcia Professional Services, LLC shall provide to the District evidence of the 
assignment from GMAwater, LLC and all necessary insurance and statutory 
governmental contracting assurances as required by law. 

5. This resolution shall take effect upon its passage in the manner provided by law. 
The contract with Garcia Professional Services, LLC shall be effective upon the 
provision of all items required by paragraph 4. 

DONE AND ORDERED THIS 1st  DAY OF April, 2025. 

APPROVE AS TO FORM COUNTY LINE DRAINAGE DISTRICT 

 
________________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Seth C. Behn, General Counsel  Joe Beale, President 

Dated:_April 1, 2025 Dated:___________________________ 

Page 14



County Line
Drainage District

 Financial Report For
February 2025

Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Culvert Removal/Installation
The culvert at the main entrance to the grove was found to be collapsed

on 2/4/25. I called 2 contractors, E.L.D. and D.A. Rose Farm &
Ag Services, to see who could get here first. D.A. Rose was able to
mobilize their equipment that day. They were able to remove the
existing collapsed culvert, concrete slab, and canker spray system
to backfill the ditch with 5 loads of material from their dump truck 
on 2/5/25 to complete the job until the culvert arrives. They charged 
$6,500. The culvert is a 48"x55' with a 6' riser, we ordered the same  
size culvert to replace it from Metal Culverts at a cost of $8,522
The new culvert is to arrive the first week of April 2025.
Total - $15,022

The culvert on Mr. Fabrey's Road 3 had started to collapse on 3/5/25, I was 
notified by Bill Hammond. After inspecting the road and determining
that this was an emergency as the harvesters were picking on 
Road 3 at the time and the fruit trucks had trailers spotted along 
the road on either side of the collapsing culvert. I put up temporary
barricades to block the road and called D.A. Rose Farm and Ag
Services. They were able to mobilize their trackhoe that afternoon
and dig out the collapsed culvert and make a temporary crossing.
They completed the crossing by hauling 3 dumptruck loads of material
the following morning. They charged us $6,000 for the repair.
I ordered the culvert to replace the collapsed one, it is a 60"x40'
straight pipe from Metal Culverts for $10,200. The culvert arrived 
3/19/2025.
Total - $16,200

D.A. Rose Farm & Ag Services gave a verbal quote of $7,000 to install both culverts
once they come in.

Canal Cleaning
Nothing to report

Weed Control
I have been in contact with Dean Crivellaro about spraying the ditches.

Dean gave me the herbicides and quantities that we will need.
Nutrien Ag Solutions - $13,040.70
Helena - $16,615.20
Labor - $13,200
Total - $26,240

County Line Drainage District
Quarterly Field Report
January - March 2025

Page 19



Road Maintenance
Road grading was completed in early February by E.L.D. at a cost of $15,685 

Meters and Pump Readings
Flowmeter readings reported at the beginning of every month, all 

flowmeters appear to be working properly

Special Projects
Nothing to report.

Page 20


	County Line Drainage District - April 1, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	January 7, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Consider Approval of LLW Rate Adjustment
	Consider Resolution No. 2025-01 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Proposed Budget
	Consider Resolution No. 2025-02 – Renewal and Assignment of District Engineering
Contract
	Financial Report
	Field Report




